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Amanda M. Steiner, #10359 
TERRELL MARSHALL LAW GROUP PLLC 
936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 
Seattle, Washington  98103-8869 
Telephone:  (206) 816.6603 
Facsmile:  (206) 319-5450 

Charles M. Tebbutt, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Sarah A. Matsumoto, pro hac vice forthcoming 
LAW OFFICES OF CHARLES M. TEBBUTT, P.C. 
941 Lawrence Street 
Eugene, Oregon 97401 
Telephone:  (541) 344-3505 
Facsimile:  (541) 344-3516 

Paige Tomaselli, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Sylvia Wu, pro hac vice forthcoming 
CENTER FOR FOOD SAFETY 
303 Sacramento Street, 2nd Floor 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Telephone:  (415) 826-2770 
Facsimile:  (415) 826-0507 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs Kupale Ookala and Center for Food Safety 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF HAWAI‘I 

KUPALE OOKALA, INC., a Hawai‘i 
non-profit corporation; CENTER FOR 
FOOD SAFETY, a Washington, D.C. 
non-profit corporation, 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

BIG ISLAND DAIRY, LLC, a Hawai’i 
limited liability company, 

Defendant. 

      Case No.   

COMPLAINT FOR 
DECLARATORY RELIEF, 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF,  
AND CIVIL PENALTIES  
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a citizen suit for declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and civil 

penalties brought by Plaintiffs Kupale Ookala, Inc., and Center for Food Safety, 

Inc. (hereinafter, “CFS”) (hereinafter, collectively, “Plaintiffs”) against Defendant 

Big Island Dairy, LLC (hereinafter “BID” or “the Dairy”) for violations of the 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, 33 

U.S.C. § 1251 et seq. (hereinafter “CWA”), at the site of Defendant’s commercial 

dairy facility (hereinafter “Dairy” or “Site”) located near the community of 

Ookala, Hawai‘i.    

2. This civil action is brought pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1)(A). 

3. Section 301(a) of the CWA provides that “the discharge of any pollutant by 

any person shall be unlawful,” except in accordance with certain statutory 

requirements of the Act, including the requirement that a discharger obtain and 

comply with a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) 

permit.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a); 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

4. Section 402 of the CWA establishes the NPDES Program, which controls 

water pollution by regulating point sources and industrial, municipal, and other 

facilities that discharge to surface waters.  33 U.S.C. § 1342. 
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5. As detailed below, Plaintiffs allege that for the past five years and 60 days, 

BID has violated and continues to violate the CWA by discharging pollutants to 

waters of the United States without a permit, in violation of §301(a) of the CWA, 

33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  In addition, BID has violated and continues to violate its 

individual NPDES permit authorizing discharges of storm water associated with 

construction activities, in violation of §402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

6. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief establishing that Defendant has violated the 

CWA.  Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief directing Defendants to halt any and all 

continuing discharges, to obtain and comply with the terms of a NPDES permit, 

and to comply with the terms of BID’s individual NPDES permit authorizing 

discharges of storm water associated with construction activities.  Additionally, 

Plaintiffs seek the imposition of civil penalties of up to $51,570 per violation, per 

day.  Finally, Plaintiffs request that the Court award Plaintiffs’ reasonable 

attorneys’ and expert witness fees and costs incurred in bringing this action and 

any other relief that this Court deems appropriate.   

JURISDICTION 

7. This is a civil enforcement action brought under the citizen suit provisions of 

Section 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365.  This Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1). 
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8. The Court also has federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 because this action arises under the Clean Water Act and the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq.   

9. The relief requested is authorized pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §§1319 and 1365(a), 

and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. 

10. On April 28, 2017, Plaintiffs gave notice of the alleged violations and their 

intent to file suit to BID, BID’s registered agent, the United States Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA), EPA Region IX, and the State of Hawai’i, Department 

of Health, as required by Section 505(a)(1) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1), 

and the implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. § 135.2.  A true and correct copy of 

Plaintiffs’ April 28, 2017 notice letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and is 

incorporated by reference. 

11. On June 15, 2017, Plaintiffs gave supplemental notice of additional alleged 

violations and their intent to file or amend a lawsuit to BID, BID’s registered 

agent, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), EPA Region IX, 

and the State of Hawai’i, Department of Health, as required by Section 505(a)(1) 

of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1), and the implementing regulations at 40 

C.F.R. § 135.2.  A true and correct copy of Plaintiffs’ June 15, 2017, supplemental 

notice letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and is incorporated by reference. 
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12. More than 60 days have passed since BID was initially notified of the 

allegations against it, and, upon information and belief, the violations complained 

of in the notices are continuing at this time or are reasonably likely to continue.  

13. No government authority is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action 

in a state or federal court against BID for the unlawful behavior addressed in this 

Complaint.  On May 2, 2017, the State of Hawaii, Department of Health sent an 

administrative Notice of Violation and Order (hereinafter, “NOV”) to BID.  This 

administrative notice does not address the allegations and relief requested by 

Plaintiffs.  It is not a final order and is subject to further administrative appeals and 

judicial review.  Furthermore, the State’s NOV related to one violation from one 

area of BID on one day; it does not diligently prosecute the CWA as it relates to 

the numerous violations alleged herein by Plaintiffs nor does it address the ongoing 

violations. 

VENUE 

14. Venue properly vests in the U.S. District Court for the District of Hawai‘i 

pursuant to Section 505(c)(1) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1), because the 

source of the alleged violations is located within this judicial district.   

PARTIES 

15. Plaintiff Kupale Ookala, Inc., (hereinafter, “Kupale Ookala”) is a nonprofit 

corporation formed under the laws of the State of Hawai‘i.  Kupale Ookala is a 

Case 1:17-cv-00305   Document 1   Filed 06/28/17   Page 5 of 22     PageID #: 5



 

COMPLAINT   6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

group of concerned citizens who reside within the Ookala area and the island of 

Hawai‘i.  Kupale Ookala is dedicated to protecting water, land, and scenic beauty 

of Ookala for the benefit of their community and future generations.  Its members 

are committed to ensuring a healthy and safe quality of life for individuals and 

families who reside, work, or visit Ookala and the Island of Hawai‘i. Kupale 

Ookala advocates on behalf of a clean and safe environment.   

16. Kupale Ookala’s members use and enjoy waterways in and around Ookala 

for cultural, recreational, and aesthetic purposes, and the environmental, health, 

aesthetic, economic, and recreational interests of Kupale Ookala’s members have 

been and will continue to be adversely affected by BID’s violations of the CWA.  

For instance:  

a. Members of Kupale Ookala live, work, engage in traditional cultural 

activities, and recreate in the environment that has been negatively 

impacted by BID’s improper manure management and operational 

practices.  BID’s continued improper practices, and the resultant 

discharges, have lessened Kupale Ookala’s members’ enjoyment of 

their environment, and Kupale Ookala members are concerned that 

the environment has been irreparably injured by BID’s improper 

practices; and 
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b. Kupale Ookala is concerned about its members and other community 

members who have changed their plant and seafood collection 

practices due to concerns over pollution from BID.  Kupale Ookala 

knows of individuals who used to gather plants and herbs in and near 

the Ookala gulches for use in oral and topical medications, but no 

longer do so or do so less frequently due to concerns about 

contamination from BID.  Kupale Ookala also knows of individuals 

who used to swim, fish, and gather o’pihi and limu where Kaohaoha 

Gulch feeds into the Pacific Ocean, but who no longer do so or do so 

less frequently due to concerns about contamination from BID. 

17. Waterways used and enjoyed by Kupale Ookala for the above activities 

include, but are not limited to, the Alaialoa Gulch, the Kaohaoha Gulch, the Kaula 

Gulch (all defined as “Class 2, inland waters”), the Pacific Ocean, and other 

hydrologically connected waters.  As described above, these waters are culturally 

and historically significant for many of Kupale Ookala’s members and Ookala 

community members, including Native Hawaiians and other longtime Ookala 

families.  The Alaialoa Gulch, in particular, flows through the community near a 

school bus drop off/pick up area, and has historically been an area where children 

and families come together to play and socialize.  Accordingly, Kupale Ookala is 

interested in preserving the integrity of the Ookala area, including its waterways, 
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for current and future generations of Ookala residents and visitors, including 

Native Hawaiians and those persons for whom the Ookala area holds particular 

historical and community importance. 

18. Kupale Ookala is a “person” within the meaning of Section 502(5) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5). 

19. Plaintiff Center for Food Safety, Inc. (CFS) is a public interest, non-profit 

membership organization.  CFS’s mission is to empower people, support farmers, 

and protect the earth from the harmful impacts of industrial agriculture. Through 

groundbreaking legal, scientific, and grassroots action, CFS protects and promotes 

the public’s right to safe food and the environment.   

20. CFS has more than 830,000 members throughout the country that support 

safe, sustainable agriculture, and has approximately 11,230 members living in the 

state of Hawai’i, including 2,307 on the island of Hawai‘i.   

21. CFS’s organizational purposes are adversely affected by BID’s violations of 

the CWA.  BID’s violations have caused significant contamination of area surface 

waters and the environment.  But for BID’s unlawful actions, CFS would not have 

to expend as much of its resources on the problems created by illegal discharges 

from individual large-scale industrial farming operations, and could direct these 

resources to other priorities.   
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22. The environmental, health, aesthetic, economic, and recreational interests of 

CFS’s members have been and will continue to be adversely affected by BID’s 

violations of the CWA.  CFS members support the public’s right to choose food 

and crops not sourced from or by industrial farming practices, such as CAFOs.   

23. Upon information and belief, Big Island Dairy, LLC, is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the state of Hawai‘i, with a mailing address 

of 695 N. 700 E., Rupert, Idaho, 83350.  Big Island Dairy, LLC owns and operates 

a dairy facility known as “Big Island Dairy,” located at 39-3308 Hawaii Belt Road, 

Hilo, Hawai‘i (near mile marker 30).  

24. Big Island Dairy’s operation is classified as a concentrated animal feeding 

operation, or CAFO, as defined by the CWA, 40 C.F.R. § 122.23, and is 

specifically considered a “large CAFO,” because it has 700 or more mature dairy 

cows.  40 C.F.R. § 122.23(b)(4). 

25. Big Island Dairy, LLC is a “person” within the meaning of Section 502(5) of 

the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5). 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

26. The stated objective of the CWA is “to restore and maintain the chemical, 

physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  

Congressional intent was that the discharge of pollutants into the Nation’s waters 

be eliminated by 1985.  Id.  
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27. Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of 

any pollutant into the navigable waters, unless the discharge complies with various 

other enumerated sections of the Act.  Section 301(a) prohibits discharges not 

authorized by, or in violation of, the terms of a valid NPDES permit issued 

pursuant to Section 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p).   

28. “Navigable waters” are broadly defined as “the waters of the United States.”  

33 U.S.C. § 1362(7). 

29. The “discharge of a pollutant” means any “addition of a pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(12).  “Pollutant” is 

defined to include “industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste discharged into 

water.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(6).  “The term ‘point source’ means any discernable, 

confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, 

channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, 

concentrated animal feeding operation, landfill leachate collection system…from 

which pollutants are or may be discharged.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(14); 40 C.F.R. § 

122.2. 

30. As a “point source,” a CAFO like BID is prohibited from discharging 

pollutants into waters of the United States under normal operating conditions, and 

may only discharge in the event of a 25-year, 24-hour storm event if that CAFO 
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has coverage under and complies with a general or individual NPDES permit.  33 

U.S.C. §1311(a). 

31. Section 402 of the CWA establishes the NPDES program, which is the 

primary means of controlling discharges from concentrated animal feeding 

operations and also requires permit coverage for any stormwater discharge where 

“the Administrator or the State, as the case may be, determines that the stormwater 

discharge contributes to a violation of a water quality standard or is a significant 

contributor of pollutants to waters of the United States.”  33 U.S.C. § 

1342(p)(2)(E).  “Storm water” means storm water runoff, snow melt runoff, and 

surface runoff and drainage.  40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(13); HAR § 11-55-01. 

32. Section 402 of the CWA provides that “compliance with a permit issued 

pursuant to this section shall be deemed compliance…with section[] 1311…of this 

title.”  33 U.S.C. § 1342(k). 

33. EPA has delegated the administration of the NPDES permit program in 

Hawai‘i to the Department of Health (hereinafter “HDOH”).  Specifically, the 

Clean Water Branch of the HDOH administers the NPDES permit program and 

issues individual NPDES permits and approves coverage under general NPDES 

permits, pursuant to the CWA and Hawai‘i Revised Statutes, § 342D. 

34. Hawai‘i Revised Statutes § 342D-50(a) provides “no person, including any 

public body, shall discharge any water pollutant into state waters, or cause or allow 
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any water pollutant to enter state waters except in compliance with this chapter, 

rules adopted pursuant to this chapter, or a permit or variance issued by the 

director.”  HRS § 342D-50(a). 

35. To implement its delegated administration of the NPDES program and in 

accordance with HRS § 342D, HDOH has promulgated administrative rules for the 

regulation of point sources and issuance of NPDES permits.  Hawai‘i 

Administrative Rules, Chapters 11-54, 11-55. 

36. HDOH has issued an individual permit for discharges of stormwater 

associated with certain construction activities to BID.  A true and correct copy of 

that permit, No. HIS000224, effective March 21, 2013, is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “C,” which incorporates the HDOH’s Standard NPDES Permit Conditions 

for individual permits, available at 

http://health.hawaii.gov/cwb/files/2013/05/stdcond15.pdf (last accessed June 28, 

2017) (hereinafter, Permit No. HIS000224 is referred to as BID’s “Stormwater 

Construction Permit”). 

37. HDOH has not developed a general NPDES permit for CAFOs in the state 

of Hawai‘i; any CAFO must therefore obtain coverage under an individual NPDES 

permit.   

38. The CWA authorizes citizens to file suit against any person alleged to be in 

violation of an effluent standard or limitation.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1).  An 
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“effluent standard or limitation” includes a “permit or condition thereof issued 

under section 1342.”  33 U.S.C. § 1365(f)(6). 

FACTS 

39. All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein. 

Big Island Dairy, LLC’s Dairy Operation 

40. Big Island Dairy, LLC, commenced operations of its Dairy in 2012.  Prior to 

2012, a different dairy was operated at BID’s site by different owners.   

41. Messrs. Derek and Steve Whitesides are co-managers of Big Island Dairy, 

LLC. 

42. According to public records, BID operates its dairy CAFO on approximately 

2,500 acres near the community of Ookala, northwest of Hilo, Hawai‘i.  BID also 

owns and farms an offsite 160-acre cropland between Ookala and Hilo.  

43. According to public records, as of April 2017, BID housed at least 2,599 

animals at its Dairy.  The manure generated by BID’s cows is collected and used 

on-site; it is not removed from the property, sold, or given away to the public.  At 

its Dairy, BID composts manure, applies it to croplands, and stores liquid manure 

in at least two storage lagoons. 

44. BID did not obtain a NPDES permit for its CAFO when it began operations 

in 2012 and, upon information and belief, still has not received any individual 

NPDES permit for the operation of its CAFO. 
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Big Island Dairy, LLC’s Unpermitted Discharges 

45. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that BID has repeatedly 

discharged pollutants into Alaialoa, Kaohaoha, and Kaula Gulches, all of which 

discharge or flow into the Pacific Ocean. 

46. Alaialoa, Kaohaoha, and Kaula Gulches (hereinafter, collectively, 

“Gulches”) are either “waters of the United States,” or, as “discernable, confined 

and discrete conveyance[s],” are point sources under the CWA.  The Pacific Ocean 

is a water of the United States. 

47. The groundwater, due to the volcanic soils and geology underlying the BID 

operation, is hydrologically connected to the Gulches.  

48. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that BID has discharged and 

continues to discharge pollutants into the Alaialoa, Kaohaoha, and Kaula 

Gulches—and in turn, the Pacific Ocean—in the following ways: 

a. Improper application of manure wastewater to BID’s crop fields, 

including over-application (that is, non-agronomic applications) and 

application on high wind days or immediately preceding or during a 

precipitation event, causing surface runoff into the Gulches; 

b. Seepage of manure wastewater from crop fields, composting areas, 

animal pens, and lagoons, into ground which is hydrologically 

connected to the Gulches;  
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c. Overflow of manure wastewater from lagoons, including via a 

channelized “spillway” that connects the lower lagoon directly to 

Kaohaoha Gulch; and 

d. Leakage from animal water troughs, which flows through animal 

waste collection areas and carries waste into the Gulches. 

49. The pollutants in these discharges includes, but are not limited to, liquid and 

solid animal wastes.  The animal wastes contain, among other pollutants, fecal 

coliform and E. coli bacteria, numerous other pathogens, nitrogen, phosphorus, and 

suspended solids, and can alter water quality indicator parameters such as 

biochemical oxygen demand and pH.  Such pollution, especially the pathogens 

associated with dairy operations, presents threats to public health and the 

environment. 

50. Upon information and belief, these discharges occur on a recurring basis and 

have occurred since at least April 28, 2012—approximately weekly or more—as 

described in Exhibits A and B.  Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that 

BID has illegally discharged animal waste at least on the specific dates identified 

in Exhibits A and B. 

51. Upon information and belief, the discharges Plaintiffs allege herein were not 

authorized by, and could not be authorized by, an applicable NPDES permit and 

were not due to or a direct result of a 25-year, 24-hour rainfall event. 
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Big Island Dairy’s Violations of NPDES Permit Authorizing Discharges of 

Stormwater Associated with Construction Activities (No. HIS000224) 

52. BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit requires BID to comply with all 

materials submitted in and with its application for coverage, including a 

description of the scope of construction at the Site, which is described as “two 

freestalls, a lagoon, digester and bedding master structures and a parlor.”  

Stormwater Construction Permit, Section A.1; Section 1.7 of BID’s “Site-Specific 

Construction Best Management Practice Plan.” 

53. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that BID is currently 

constructing a milk processing facility at the Site, outside the approved scope of its 

construction activities and in violation of its Stormwater Construction Permit. 

54. BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit prohibits BID from “caus[ing] or 

“contribut[ing] to a violation of the basic water quality criteria as specified in 

HAR, Chapter 11-54, Section 11-54-4.”  Stormwater Construction Permit, Section 

A.5. 

55. Upon information and belief, the Gulches (identified as “receiving waters” 

in BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit), are not meeting basic water quality 

criteria.  Recent water quality tests have shown elevated levels of turbidity, and 

Plaintiffs’ observations, photographs, and videos depict brown, clouded water.  

Water quality tests have also shown very high levels of E.coli and enterococcus, 
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which may be “toxic to human, animal, plant, or aquatic life[,]” in violation of 

BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit. 

56. BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit requires BID to “[i]nspect, at a 

minimum of once per week, the receiving state waters…to detect violations of 

conditions which may cause or contribute to a violation of the basic water quality 

criteria as specified in HAR, Chapter 11-54, Section 11-54-4[,]” and must 

immediately stop or modify its construction activities or Best Management 

Practices to stop or prevent violations of basic water quality criteria.  Stormwater 

Construction Permit, Sections A.6 and A.7. 

57. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that BID is not conducting 

weekly inspections, nor has it taken immediate steps to correct violations of basic 

water quality criteria, in violation of its Stormwater Construction Permit. 

58.  BID’s Stormwater Construction Permit requires BID to “[e]nsure that any 

comingled storm water that contacts pollution sources/contaminated soil is 

prevented from discharging to State waters.”  Stormwater Construction Permit, 

Section B.2. 

59. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that BID is not preventing 

storm water that contacts pollution sources on BID’s Site from discharging to State 

waters, in violation of its Stormwater Construction Permit. 
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 
 

Discharge of Pollutants  
Without an NPDES Permit 

 
60. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the above paragraphs as 

though fully set forth herein. 

61. Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of 

pollutants unless pursuant to the terms of a valid NPDES permit issued pursuant to 

Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

62. The Gulches are all “waters of the United States” subject to the CWA or are 

“point sources” from which pollutants are being discharged to the Pacific Ocean, a 

“water of the United States.” 

63. BID did not and does not have an NPDES permit authorizing discharges into 

such waterways from its CAFO operation. 

64. Since at least April 28, 2012, BID has discharged pollutants associated with 

its CAFO operation into waters of the United States, continues to discharge such 

pollutants, and is likely to continue to do so in the future.   

65. BID has discharged and continues to discharge pollutants associated with its 

CAFO operation in at least those ways enumerated in Paragraph 48, e.g., by 

improper application of manure wastewater to its fields, by causing seepage of 

manure wastewater from fields, compost areas, pens, and lagoons into groundwater 
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that is hydrologically connected to the Gulches, by causing its manure storage 

lagoons to overflow into a spillway that flows directly into Kaohaoha Gulch, and 

by causing water troughs to leak and flow through waste collection areas, thereby 

transporting waste into the Gulches. 

66. Each discharge that BID has committed since commencing operations 

constitutes a separate and distinct violation of the CWA. 

67. In discharging manure wastewater without a permit into waters of the United 

States, including the Alaialoa, Kaohaoha, and Kaula Gulches and the Pacific 

Ocean, BID has violated and continues to violate section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 

U.S.C. § 1311(a). 

COUNT II 

Failure to Comply with Stormwater NPDES Construction Permit 

68. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the above paragraphs as 

though fully set forth herein. 

69. The CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source into 

waters of the United States, unless pursuant to the terms of a NPDES permit.  33 

U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342. 

70. The CWA requires a NPDES permittee to comply with all conditions of its 

permit.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1365(f)(2), (f)(6); 40 C.F.R. § 122.41. 
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71. BID has been issued an individual NPDES permit authorizing discharges of 

storm water associated with specified construction activities, No. HIS000224, 

under section 402 of the CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

72. As described herein, BID has failed to comply with multiple provisions of its 

Stormwater Construction Permit and is likely to continue to do so in the future.   

73. Each incident of noncompliance that BID has committed since obtaining 

permit coverage constitutes a separate and distinct violation of the CWA.  

74. In failing to comply with its Stormwater Construction Permit and conditions 

thereof issued under section 1342, BID has violated and continues to violate 

section 402 (a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court enter a 

judgment: 

A. Declaring that BID has violated and continues to be in violation of Section 

301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), for the unlawful discharges of 

pollutants associated with it dairy operations to waters of the United States; 

B. Declaring that BID has violated and continues to be in violation of Section 

301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), for the unlawful discharges of 

pollutants stemming from unpermitted construction activities to waters of the 

United States; 
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C. Declaring that BID has violated and continues to be in violation of Section 

402 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, for its failure to comply with its 

individual permit for discharges of polluted storm water associated with 

construction activities at Dairy; 

D. Enjoining BID from discharging pollutants from its Dairy into waters of the 

United States except as authorized by and in compliance with an applicable 

individual NPDES permit; 

E. Ordering BID to comply fully and immediately with all applicable 

requirements of its Stormwater Construction Permit (No. HIS000224); 

F. Ordering BID to pay civil penalties of up to $51,570 per day, per violation, 

for all violations of the Clean Water Act at the Dairy Site, pursuant to Sections 

309(d) and 505(a) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(d), 1365(a), and 40 C.F.R. 

§§19.1-19.4; 

G. Ordering BID to remediate any harm caused by BID’s noncompliance with 

the Clean Water Act and to eliminate any potential for future harm; 

L. Ordering BID to pay Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness 

fees, and costs incurred in prosecuting this action pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d); 

and 

M.  Awarding any such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED AND DATED this 28th day of June, 

2017. 
 

TERRELL MARSHALL LAW GROUP PLLC 
 
 
By:     /s/ Amanda M. Steiner, #10359     

Amanda M. Steiner, #10359 
Email:  asteiner@terrellmarshall.com 
936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 
Seattle, Washington  98103-8869 
Telephone:  (206) 816-6603 
Facsmile:  (206) 319-5450 
 
Charles M. Tebbutt, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Email:  charlie@tebbuttlaw.com 
Sarah A. Matsumoto, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Email:  sarah@tebbuttlaw.com 
LAW OFFICES OF CHARLES M.  
   TEBBUTT, P.C. 
941 Lawrence Street 
Eugene, Oregon 97401 
Telephone:  (541) 344-3505 
Facsimile:  (541) 344-3516 
 
Paige Tomaselli, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Email:  ptomaselli@centerforfoodsafety.org 
Sylvia Wu, pro hac vice forthcoming 
Email:  swu@centerforfoodsafety.org 
CENTER FOR FOOD SAFETY 
303 Sacramento Street, 2nd Floor 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Telephone:  (415) 826-2770 
Facsimile:  (415) 826-0507 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Kupale Ookala and Center 
for Food Safety 
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